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Chairman’s 
Letter

Dear fellow shareholders,

I am pleased to provide you with the Annual Report for the L1 Long Short Fund Limited (‘LSF’ or ‘Company’) for 
the year ended 30 June 2022.
LSF has again delivered highly attractive results for the financial year with the portfolio returning 9.8% versus the 
S&P ASX200AI’s return of -6.5%. Against the backdrop of heightened market volatility, rising inflation and interest 
rates, geopolitical events and ongoing COVID-19 disruptions, these results reinforce the Investment Manager’s 
track record of conducting high quality investment research and building a portfolio that significantly outperforms 
equity markets. 
The Investment Manager positioned the portfolio to benefit from several key themes including the reopening trade 
during the first half of the financial year, energy and commodities exposure in the second half, and higher inflation 
throughout the year. Returns from these themes were enhanced by M&A activity in certain portfolio stocks, as well 
as numerous positive company updates across the course of the year. Similarly, being short COVID-19 ‘winners’ 
and ultra-high P/E stocks added significant value which was important at a time of broader equity market weakness. 
Finally, throughout the year, the Investment Manager was able to take advantage of increased market volatility by 
exiting successful positions as the market started to reflect ‘fair value’ and also by redeploying capital to take new 
positions or increase exposure to high conviction stocks as prices dipped.
The Board was pleased to establish a regular stream of fully franked dividends facilitated by the portfolio’s strong 
performance which has grown at each payment. Following the inaugural LSF dividend of 1.5 cents per share 
declared in February 2021, the Company paid shareholders 3.0 cents per share in August 2021, 4.0 cents per share 
in February 2022 and 4.5 cents per share in August 2022. 
During the year, senior management of the Investment Manager have continued to increase their investment in 
LSF (buying shares on-market), strengthening their commitment to the Company’s long-term success and reinforcing 
their positive view of the portfolio. They have also sought to ensure investors stay informed on their market outlook 
and portfolio positioning through webinars, detailed monthly and quarterly reports, and a further expansion of our 
capable Investor Relations team. We have been pleased by the positive feedback from investors on all of these 
initiatives.
We look forward to speaking with you at the Annual General Meeting at 10am on Thursday 17 November 2022. 
Thank you for your continued support of the Company. 

Andrew Larke 
Chairman,  
L1 Long Short Fund Limited
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Investment 
Manager’s 
Report 

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the investment team at L1 Capital, we are pleased to provide you with our annual letter to shareholders. 
The past financial year has been marked by higher than usual market volatility, rising geopolitical tensions and an 
inflection point in central bank policy. In that context, we are pleased to have been able to deliver a 9.8% return 
over the financial year, compared to -6.5% for the ASX200 Accumulation Index.
The LSF portfolio was positioned to reflect four key themes: 1) a market rotation towards cyclical and value stocks 
and away from defensive and growth stocks; 2) the reopening trade enabled by the global vaccine rollout; 3) M&A 
activity that would keep investors focused on valuations and assets with strategic appeal; and 4) high inflation that 
we expected would be much larger and persistent than the consensus view. These themes, together with numerous 
positive stock-specific updates, long exposures to resources and short positions in overvalued high P/E stocks 
enabled the portfolio to handle a challenging market backdrop. 
Over the first half of the financial year, global markets were generally positive, supported by corporate earnings 
upgrades and generally supportive central bank and government policy. 
However, at the start of 2022, global equities markets suffered their worst quarterly drop in two years (since the 
start of the COVID-19 pandemic) due to the Russia/Ukraine war, as well as ongoing concerns over an imminent 
tightening of monetary policy from central banks. This pressure continued throughout the second half of the 
financial year as fears of a U.S. recession increased with hawkish comments from central banks on policy tightening 
in order to address rising inflation pressure. Despite a significant decline in global markets (S&P 500 –20.0%, Nasdaq 
–29.2%, ASX200AI –9.9%) over the second half, LSF portfolio performance was largely flat, driven by company-
specific catalysts, together with long exposure to Energy and short exposure to unprofitable technology stocks 
and ‘COVID winners’ that fell substantially.
The heightened market volatility presented us with opportunities to add to our highest conviction positions at 
attractive prices, as well as selectively add new positions in high quality businesses that we believe had become 
oversold. 
Looking forward, the outlook for equity markets has become more challenging given the tightening of central bank 
policy, cost pressures facing corporates, falling consumer confidence, the Russia/Ukraine war, COVID-19 lockdowns 
in China and global supply chain disruptions. We remain cautious on the macro outlook and have been significantly 
reducing our market exposure over the past six months. We believe returns from all asset classes, including equities, 
will become more challenging given full valuations, slower corporate profit growth, rising interest rates and increasing 
geopolitical tensions. As a result, we believe that generating attractive returns will require detailed company research 
to find opportunities that can outperform the broader market. 
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Investment Manager’s Report
Continued

While equities have had a difficult year, these periods of weakness provide our team with a great opportunity to 
make long term investments in high quality companies at attractive prices. We have continued to increase our 
investment in LSF during the year, reflecting the confidence we have in the portfolio and investment team. LSF 
remains our largest personal investment by far, highlighting the strong alignment of interests we have with our 
fellow shareholders.
As always, we sincerely appreciate your continued support and investment in LSF and look forward to updating 
you over the year ahead.

 
Mark Landau  Raphael Lamm
Non Independent Director,  Non Independent Director, 
L1 Long Short Fund Limited L1 Long Short Fund Limited
Joint Managing Director & Joint Managing Director & 
Chief Investment Officer, L1 Capital Pty Ltd Chief Investment Officer, L1 Capital Pty Ltd
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Directors’ 
Report

The Directors present their report together with the 
financial statements of L1 Long Short Fund Limited (the 
“Company”) for the year ended 30 June 2022. 

Directors
The following persons held office as Directors during the 
year and up to the date of this report:
Andrew Larke (Independent Chairman)
Raphael Lamm  (Non Independent Director)
Mark Landau  (Non Independent Director)
John Macfarlane  (Independent Director)
Harry Kingsley (Independent Director)

Principal activities
During the year, the principal activity of the Company 
was to invest (both long and short) in predominantly 
Australian securities with the remaining exposure to 
global securities. The Company’s investment objective 
is to deliver positive absolute returns to investors while 
seeking to preserve capital over the long term.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the 
activity of the Company during the year.

Dividends
On 25 August 2021, the Directors declared a fully 
franked final dividend of 3 cents per share with record 
date of 14 September 2021 and paid to the shareholders 
on 1 October 2021.
On 25 February 2022, the Directors declared a fully 
franked interim dividend of 4 cents per share with record 
date of 15 March 2022 and paid to the shareholders on 
1 April 2022.
On 26 August 2022, the Directors declared a fully 
franked final dividend of 4.50 cents per share with 
record date of 13 September 2022 and payable to the 
shareholders on 30 September 2022.
The Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) is in operation 
under which the shareholders may elect to have all or 
part of their dividend payment reinvested in new 
ordinary shares. Participating shareholders will be 

entitled to be allotted the number of shares (rounded 
down to the nearest whole number) which the cash 
dividend would purchase at the relevant allocation price. 
The relevant allocation price is the arithmetic average 
of the daily volume weighted average sale price 
(calculated to the nearest cent) of shares traded on the 
ASX over the five trading days commencing on the ex-
dividend date for the relevant dividend, without any 
discount. The last day for the receipt of an election 
notice for participation in the DRP is 14 September 2022.

Dividend Profit Reserve
The Company may transfer any current year or prior 
period accumulated profits not distributed as dividends 
to a dividend profit reserve. Doing so facilitates the 
payment of future dividends, rather than maintaining 
these profits within retained earnings.
On 12 January 2022, the Directors resolved to approve 
the transfer of any resulting net profit after tax for the 
half-year ended 31 December 2021 to the dividend 
profit reserve. Accordingly, on 31 December 2021, the 
transfer of $129,829,000 was made to the reserve. 
Further transfer of $11,244,000 was made to the reserve 
on 30 June 2022 which is in line with the board resolution 
dated 28 June 2022.
The balance of the dividend profit reserve as of 
30 June 2022 is $603,457,000 (2021: $504,977,000).

Review of operations
The operating profit before tax was $183,313,000 for 
the year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: $724,909,000). The 
net result after tax was a profit of$141,073,000 (2021: 
$514,192,000).
The net tangible asset backing before tax as at 
30 June 2022 was $2.7055 per share (2021: $2.7869).
The Company’s performance exceeded its high 
watermark as of the performance calculation year ended 
30 June 2022 giving the Investment Manager an 
entitlement to a performance fee. Please refer to Note 
21 for further details. 
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Directors’ Report
Continued

Review of operations continued
On 27 February 2020, the Company announced a new 
on-market buy-back of up to 10% of its shares, 
commencing 16 March 2020 and continuing for up to 
12 months. The Company announced on 
12 February 2021 that it will extend its share buy-back 
program for a further 12 months from 16 March 2021. 
On 18 May 2022, the Company announced a renewal 
of the on-market buy-back program that the Company 
has previously in place, commencing 1 June 2022 and 
continuing for up to 12 months. No shares were bought 
back over the year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: 
43,059,924 shares (6.48%)). Please refer to Note 15 for 
further details.

Financial position
The net asset value of the Company for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2022 was $1,685,426,000 (2021: 
$1,574,311,000).

Significant changes in the state of affairs
In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant 
changes in the state of affairs of the Company that 
occurred during the year ended 30 June 2022.

Matters subsequent to the end of the  
financial year
No matter or circumstance has occurred subsequent to 
year end that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect, the operations of the Company, the 
results of those operations or the state of affairs of the 
Company in subsequent financial years.

Likely developments and expected results  
of operations
The Company will continue to pursue its investment 
objectives for the long-term benefit of the members.
The results of the Company’s operations will be affected 
by a number of factors, including the performance of 
investment markets in which the Company invests. 
Investment performance is not guaranteed and future 
returns may differ from past returns. As investment 
conditions change over time, past returns should not 
be used to predict future returns.

Business Risks
The main areas of risk that have been identified for the 
Company are investment risk and operational risk. As a 
listed investment company, the Company bears 
investment risk as it invests its capital in assets that are 
not risk free. Investment risk covers investment strategy, 
short-selling, leverage, investment manager, market price, 
collateral, credit, counterparties, liquidity, small cap 
stocks, portfolio turnover, derivatives, diversification, 
foreign currency, outsourcing, interest rates and the 

regulatory environment. Operational risks include key 
person risk, regulatory risk and cyber security risk. 
Our risk management framework, which is overseen by 
our Audit & Risk Committee, has been designed to 
monitor, review and continually improve risk management 
at the Company. 

Environmental regulation
The Company is not affected by any significant 
environmental regulation in respect of its operations.
To the extent that any environmental regulations may 
have an incidental impact on the Company’s operations, 
the Directors of the Company are not aware of any 
breach by the Company of those regulations.

Information on Directors
Andrew Larke (Independent Chairman)
Experience and expertise
Andrew Larke has over 25 years’ experience in mergers, 
acquisitions, capital markets and senior executive 
leadership positions.
He was formerly CEO and Managing Director of IXOM 
chemicals group and prior to that he was Global Head 
of Strategy, Planning and Mergers & Acquisitions at Orica 
Limited. 
Mr Larke has been a director of DuluxGroup since 2010 
and he is also a director of listed company Diversified 
United Investment Limited. 

Other current directorships
Andrew Larke’s current directorships in other listed 
companies include Diversified United Investment 
Limited (2015 - current).

Former directorships in last 3 years
Andrew Larke’s former directorships in other listed 
companies include DuluxGroup Ltd (2010 - 2019).

Interests in shares and options
Details of Andrew Larke’s interests in shares of the 
Company are included in the remuneration report.

Interests in contracts
Andrew Larke has no interests in contracts of the Company.

John Macfarlane (Independent Director)
Experience and expertise
John Macfarlane is an experienced international banker. 
He served as CEO of Bankers Trust New Zealand (1998-
1999), Chief Country Officer (Japan) and President of 
Deutsche Securities Japan (1999-2006), Executive 
Chairman of Deutsche Bank Australia and New Zealand 
(2007-2014) and Chairman and CEO of Deutsche Bank 
Australia (2011-2014).
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Information on Directors continued
During his 15 years at Deutsche Bank he was a member 
of the Global Markets, Global Banking and Global Regional 
Management Executive Committees and he also served 
as a Co-Chair of the Asia Pacific Executive Committee 
(2004-2006). He has also previously worked for the  
New Zealand Government Treasury, the Department of 
Finance (PNG) and for Bankers Trust Company for  
11 years in Australia, New Zealand and the USA.

Other current directorships
John Macfarlane’s current directorships in other listed 
companies include ANZ Banking Group Limited (2014 
– current).

Former directorships in last 3 years
John Macfarlane has not held any directorships in other 
listed companies within the last 3 years.

Interests in shares and options
Details of John Macfarlane’s interests in shares of the 
Company are included in Note 18(b).

Interests in contracts
John Macfarlane has no interests in contracts of the 
Company.

Harry Kingsley (Independent Director)
Experience and expertise
Harry Kingsley is a partner at K&L Gates. He is a senior 
corporate and commercial lawyer specialising in 
strategic advice and negotiated transactions. He has 
extensive legal industry experience working in private 
practice and organisations in the transport and financial 
services industries as well as working as an investment 
banking professional. He is a trusted advisor to private 
and ASX listed corporations, their directors and 
management throughout Australasia.
He is highly regarded for his general commercial 
expertise as well as specialist knowledge around private 
equity, private and public M&A, IPOs and equity and 
debt capital markets.
He was formerly a Partner at Holding Redlich 
(2015  –  2020), the Senior Legal Counsel, Asciano 
Limited and Chief Legal Counsel, Pacific National 
(2011  –  2015), Executive Director, Austock Group 
(2005 – 2011) and a senior associate at Minter Ellison 
(2001 – 2005).

Other current directorships
Harry Kingsley does not currently hold directorships in 
other listed companies.

Former directorships in last 3 years
Harry Kingsley has not held any directorships in other 
listed companies within the last 3 years.

Interests in shares and options
Details of Harry Kingsley’s interests in shares of the 
Company are included in Note 18(b).

Interests in contracts
Harry Kingsley has no interests in contracts of the 
Company.

Raphael Lamm (Non Independent Director)
Experience and expertise
Raphael Lamm is the Joint Managing Director & Chief 
Investment Officer of L1 Capital Pty Limited (“L1 
Capital”). Since co-founding L1 Capital in 2007, Raphael 
has jointly managed L1 Capital’s Australian equities 
strategies including the flagship L1 Capital Long Short 
Strategy, which was launched in 2014. 
Prior to founding L1 Capital, Raphael spent 5 years at 
Cooper Investors where he worked as an Investment 
Analyst and Portfolio Manager. During this time, Raphael 
was responsible for financial analysis, security selection 
and portfolio management of Australian Equities across 
the large cap universe.
He holds a double degree in Law and Commerce from 
Monash University, with Honours in Law and First Class 
Honours in Finance.

Other current directorships
Raphael Lamm does not currently hold directorships in 
other listed companies.

Former directorships in last 3 years
Raphael Lamm has not held any directorships in other 
listed companies within the last 3 years.

Interests in shares and options
Details of Raphael Lamm’s interests in shares of the 
Company are included in Note 18(b).

Interests in contracts
Details of Raphael Lamm’s interests in contracts of the 
Company are included later in this report.

Mark Landau (Non Independent Director)
Experience and expertise
Mark Landau is the Joint Managing Director & Chief 
Investment Officer of L1 Capital. Since co-founding L1 
Capital in 2007, Mark has jointly managed L1 Capital’s 
Australian equities strategies including the flagship L1 
Capital Long Short Strategy, which was launched in 2014. 
Prior to founding L1 Capital, Mark worked at Invesco 
Australia as an Investment Analyst in the large cap 
Australian Equities Fund and an Investment Manager in 
the Invesco Smaller Companies Fund. Previously, he was 
a Senior Strategy Consultant at Accenture, providing 
financial analysis and corporate strategy advice to a 
range of ASX100 companies. 
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Directors’ Report
Continued

Information on Directors continued
Mark holds a double degree in Commerce and 
Economics from Monash University, is an active CFA 
charterholder and is a Fellow of FINSIA.

Other current directorships
Mark Landau does not currently hold directorships in other 
listed companies.

Former directorships in last 3 years
Mark Landau has not held any directorships in other listed 
companies within the last 3 years.

Interests in shares and options
Details of Mark Landau’s interests in shares of the Company 
are included in Note 18(b).

Interests in contracts
Details of Mark Landau’s interests in contracts of the 
Company are included later in this report.

Company Secretary
Mark Licciardo
Mark Licciardo is the founder of Mertons Corporate 
Services, now part of Acclime Australia and is currently 
the partner and managing director of Acclime Australia’s 
Listed Services Division. Widely recognised as a leader 
in his field, Mark has extensive experience working with 
boards of high profile ASX-listed companies guiding and 
implementing effective corporate governance practices. 
He is also an ASX-experienced director and chair of public 
and private companies, with expertise in the listed 
investment, infrastructure, bio-technology and digital 
sectors. He currently serves as a director on a number of 
Australian company boards as well as foreign controlled 
entities and private companies.
Mark holds a Bachelor of Business degree in accounting, 
a Graduate Diploma in Governance and is a Fellow of the 
Chartered Governance Institute, the Governance Institute 
of Australia and the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. 

Meetings of Directors
The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and of each board committee held during the  
year ended 30 June 2022 and up to the date of this audit report, and the number of meetings attended by each 
Director were:

Meetings of committee

Directors’ Meetings Audit, Risk and Compliance

A B A B

Andrew Larke 4 4 2 2

Mark Landau 4 4 N/A N/A

Raphael Lamm 4 4 N/A N/A

John Macfarlane 4 4 2 2

Harry Kingsley 4 4 2 2

A = Number of meetings attended.

B = Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office or was a member of the committee during the year.

Remuneration report (Audited)
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each Director of the Company in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001.
The Independent Directors are entitled to receive Directors’ fees up to $400,000 per annum to be shared among 
the Directors. Additional remuneration may be paid in accordance with the Company’s Constitution.
The remuneration for Directors will be reviewed by the Board on a periodic basis as the Company develops its 
business and, subject to the Listing Rules, may be increased.
Raphael Lamm and Mark Landau, being Non Independent Directors, are remunerated by the Investment Manager 
and do not receive Directors’ fees from the Company.
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Remuneration report (Audited) continued
Details of remuneration
The following tables show details of the remuneration paid by the Company to the Directors of the Company  
for the current financial year and previous period.

2022

Short‑term 
employee 

benefits

Post‑
employment 

benefits

Name

Salary and 
fees 

$
Superannuation 

$
Total 

$

Independent Directors

Andrew Larke  185,000 –  185,000 

John Macfarlane  84,091  8,409  92,500 

Harry Kingsley  84,091  8,409  92,500 

Sub‑total Independent Directors  353,182  16,818  370,000 

Non Independent Directors

Raphael Lamm* –  –  – 

Mark Landau*  –  –  – 

Sub‑total Non Independent Directors  –  –  – 

Total key management personnel compensation 353,182 16,818 370,000

2021

Short‑term 
employee 

benefits

Post‑
employment 

benefits

Name

Salary and 
fees 

$
Superannuation 

$
Total 

$

Independent Directors

Andrew Larke 165,000 – 165,000

John Macfarlane 75,342 7,158 82,500

Harry Kingsley 75,342 7,158 82,500

Sub‑total Independent Directors 315,684 14,316 330,000

Non Independent Directors

Raphael Lamm* –  –  – 

Mark Landau*  –  –  – 

Sub‑total Non Independent Directors  –  –  – 

Total key management personnel compensation 315,684 14,316 330,000

* Raphael Lamm and Mark Landau are directly paid by L1 Capital. Refer to section Remuneration of Executives.
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Directors’ Report
Continued

Remuneration report (Audited) continued
Director‑Related Entity Remuneration
All transactions with related entities were made under 
normal commercial terms and conditions.
L1 Capital is a Director-related entity which operates a 
funds management business and has been appointed 
to manage the investment portfolio of the Company. In 
its capacity as Investment Manager, L1 Capital is entitled 
to be paid a management fee equal to 1.40% (plus GST) 
per annum (1.44% inclusive of the net impact of GST 
and Reduced Input Tax Credit (“RITC”)) of the value of 
the portfolio calculated daily.  
Management fees (inclusive of the net impact of GST 
and RITC) incurred during the year amounted to 
$28,027,000 (2021: $20,639,000) of which $2,401,000 
(2021: $2,122,000) remained payable as at year end.
In addition, L1 Capital is entitled to be paid by the 
Company a fee equal to 20.00% (plus GST) (20.50% 
inclusive of the net impact of GST and RITC) of the 
Portfolio’s outperformance, if any, over each semi-annual 
performance calculation period, subject to a high 
watermark mechanism. Further information in respect 
of the Company’s performance fee calculation is 
contained in Section 9.1 of the Company’s Prospectus 
which was issued on 16 February 2018.
Performance fees (inclusive of the net impact of GST 
and RITC) incurred during the year amounted to 
$46,422,000 (2021: $128,687,000) of which $1,934,000 
(2021: $68,074,000) remained payable as at year end.
No Director has received or become entitled to receive 
a benefit (other than those detailed above) by reason of 
a contract made by the Company or a related Company 
with the Director or with a firm of which he is a member 
or with a Company in which he has substantial financial 
interest.

Remuneration of Executives
There are no executives that are directly paid by the 
Company. L1 Capital, the Investment Manager of the 
Company, remunerated Raphael Lamm and Mark 
Landau as employees and/or as Directors of the 
Investment Manager during the financial year. The 
Investment Manager is appointed to provide day-to-day 
management of the Company and is remunerated as 
outlined above.
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Remuneration report (Audited) continued
Equity Instrument Disclosures Relating to Directors
As at the date of the report, the Company’s Directors and their related parties held the following interests in  
the Company:

Ordinary Shares Held

2022

Director Position

No. of shares 
at date of the 

report

Andrew Larke Independent Chairman  1,025,846 

John Macfarlane Independent Director  645,414 

Harry Kingsley Independent Director  25,816 

Raphael Lamm* Non Independent Director  39,569,257 

Mark Landau* Non Independent Director  43,720,329 

  84,986,662 

2021

Andrew Larke Independent Chairman  775,000 

John Macfarlane Independent Director  629,360 

Harry Kingsley Independent Director  25,174 

Raphael Lamm* Non Independent Director  30,213,175 

Mark Landau* Non Independent Director  35,151,496 

  66,794,205

* Raphael Lamm and Mark Landau have an interest in the shares held by L1 Employees Remuneration Trust and L1 Investment Trust 
by virtue of s608(1) of the Corporations Act 2001.

Ordinary shares held by the following Directors are subject to voluntary escrow for a period which is the earlier of: 
(a) the period of 10 years from the date that the Company is listed on the exchange or (b) the duration of the 
Investment Management Agreement:
• Raphael Lamm – 17,785,179 shares (2021: 12,603,100 shares)
• Mark Landau – 17,785,179 shares (2021: 12,603,100 shares)
Directors and Director-related entities disposed of and acquired ordinary shares in the Company on the same terms 
and conditions available to other shareholders.

Options Held
None of the Directors held options during the period up to the date of the report (2021: nil).

End of remuneration report.
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Directors’ Report
Continued

Insurance and indemnification of officers and auditors
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors of the Company, 
the Company Secretary and any related body corporate against liability incurred as such by a Director or Secretary 
to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature 
of the liability and the amount of the premium.
To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young, as part of the terms 
of its audit engagement agreement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount). 
No payment has been made to indemnify Ernst & Young during or since the financial year.

Proceedings on behalf of the Company
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings 
on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of 
taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.
No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under 
section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001.

Audit and Non‑audit services
Details of the amounts paid or payable to Ernst & Young for audit and non-audit services provided during the period 
are set out in Note 19 to the financial statements on page 44 of this report.
The directors are satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of 
independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The nature and scope of each type of non-audit 
service provided means that auditor independence was not compromised.

Rounding of amounts
In accordance with ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191, the amounts 
in the Directors’ Report and in the Financial Report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise specified.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is 
set out on page 13.
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of Directors.

Andrew Larke  
Chairman
Melbourne 
26 August 2022
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

 
 

 
 

 

 A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
 

Ernst & Young 
200 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia 
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001 

 Tel: +61 2 9248 5555 
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959 
ey.com/au 

 

Auditor’s independence declaration to the directors of L1 Long Short Fund 
Limited 
 

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of L1 Long Short Fund Limited for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2022, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit;  

b. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit; and 

c. No non-audit services provided that contravene any applicable code of professional conduct in 
relation to the audit. 

 
 
 

Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
 

Rohit Khanna 
Partner 
26 August 2022 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Year Ended

Notes
30 June 2022

$’000
30 June 2021

$’000

Income
Net gains on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 276,885 838,423
Dividend income 82,590 49,455
Interest income from financial assets at amortised cost 641 290
Trust distributions – 3
Expense reimbursement from Investment Manager 21 754 616
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains (40,445) 27,072
Other income 122 –
Total income 320,547 915,859

Expenses
Management fees 21 (28,027) (20,639)
Performance fees 21 (46,422) (128,687)
Brokerage expense (16,638) (14,281)
Dividend expense on short positions (21,585) (12,534)
Interest expense (13,067) (7,190)
Stock loan fees (4,186) (3,107)
Administration fees (235) (233)
Share registry fees (199) (165)
Secretarial fees (59) (74)
Legal fees (48) (117)
Withholding tax on foreign dividends (5,328) (2,568)
Directors' fees 18 (370) (330)
ASX fees (182) (139)
Audit fees 19 (164) (130)
Other expenses (724) (756)
Total operating expenses (137,234) (190,950)

Profit before income tax attributable to the ordinary equity holders 
of the Company 183,313 724,909
Income tax expense 7 (42,240) (210,717)

Profit after income tax 141,073 514,192
Other comprehensive income, net of tax – –

Total comprehensive income attributable  
to the ordinary equity holders of the Company 141,073 514,192

Cents Cents

Profits per share for profit attributable to the ordinary equity 
holders of the Company:
Basic profits per share 23 23.16 82.72
Diluted profits per share 23 23.16 82.72

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2022 

 As at

Notes
30 June 2022

$’000
30 June 2021

$’000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8 1,310,828  483,995 

Other receivables 9 80,722  44,208 

Receivable from Manager 21 60  49 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10 2,952,985  3,032,182 

Other current assets 568  430 

Total current assets 4,345,163  3,560,864 

Non‑current assets

Deferred tax assets 12 28,911  – 

Total non‑current assets 28,911  – 

Total assets 4,374,074  3,560,864 

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Broker advances  1,731,624  1,214,811 

Other payables 13 65,550  119,684 

Income tax payable 83,818  10,254 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 14 807,656  524,424 

Total current liabilities 2,688,648  1,869,173 

Non‑current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 12 –  117,380 

Total non‑current liabilities –  117,380 

Total liabilities 2,688,648  1,986,553 

Net assets 1,685,426  1,574,311 

EQUITY

Issued capital 15 1,228,460  1,215,825 

Dividend profit reserve 17 603,457  504,977 

Accumulated losses (146,491)  (146,491)

Total equity 1,685,426  1,574,311 

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Notes

Issued 
Capital

$’000

Dividend 
Profit 

Reserve
$’000

Accumulated 
Losses

$’000
Total

$’000

Balance as at 1 July 2020  1,287,021  –  (146,491)  1,140,530 

Profit after income tax  –  –  514,192  514,192 

Other comprehensive income  –  –  –  – 

Total comprehensive income  –  –  514,192  514,192 

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Share buyback 15  (72,518)  –  –  (72,518)

Dividend reinvestment 15  1,322  –  –  1,322 

Dividend paid 17  –  (9,215)  –  (9,215)

Transfer to dividend profit  
reserve account 17  –  514,192  (514,192)  – 

 (71,196)  504,977  (514,192)  (80,411)

Balance as at 30 June 2021  1,215,825  504,977  (146,491)  1,574,311 

Balance as at 1 July 2021 1,215,825 504,977 (146,491) 1,574,311

Profit after income tax  –  – 141,073 141,073

Other comprehensive income  –  –  –  – 

Total comprehensive income  –  – 141,073 141,073

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Performance fee reinvestment 15 5,279 –  – 5,279

Dividend reinvestment 15 7,356 –  – 7,356

Dividend paid 17 – (42,593)  – (42,593)

Transfer to dividend profit  
reserve account 17 – 141,073 (141,073)  –

12,635 98,480 (141,073) (29,958)

Balance as at 30 June 2022 1,228,460 603,457 (146,491) 1,685,426

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Year Ended

Notes
30 June 2022

$’000
30 June 2021

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Purchase of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (6,163,964) (5,518,225)

Proceeds from sale of financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss 6,777,832 5,088,515

Dividends received 75,556 46,130

Trust distributions received – 3

Interest income received from financial assets at amortised cost 175 235

Expense reimbursement received 743 606

Other income received 122 –

Brokerage expenses paid (16,638) (14,281)

Dividends paid on short positions (19,425) (13,775)

Stock loan fees paid (3,874) (3,110)

ASX fees paid (182) (139)

Net GST (paid)/received (196) 26

Interest paid (12,532) (7,120)

Management fee paid (27,748) (19,854)

Performance fee paid (107,282) (60,613)

Income tax paid (114,967) –

Other expenses paid (1,920) (1,670)

Net cash inflow from/(used in) operating activities 22 385,700 (503,272)

Cash flows from financing activities

Share buyback - (72,518)

Dividends paid (35,236) (7,893)

Broker advances received 516,814 481,294

Net cash inflow from financing activities 481,578 400,883

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 867,278 (102,389)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 483,995 559,312

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (40,445) 27,072

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8 1,310,828 483,995

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
L1 Long Short Fund Limited (the “Company”) is a listed public company domiciled in Australia. The Company’s 
registered address is Acclime Australia Corporate Services Pty Ltd, Level 7, 330 Collins Street, Melbourne VIC 3000.
The Company’s investment strategy is to invest in a portfolio of predominantly Australian securities with the remaining 
exposure to global securities (both long and short). The Company’s investment objectives are to deliver positive 
absolute returns to investors while seeking to preserve capital over the long term.
The Company was registered with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) on 14 December 2017, 
commenced operations on 19 April 2018 and was officially admitted to the Official List of the Australian Securities 
Exchange on 20 April 2018.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 August 2022. The Directors have 
the power to amend and reissue the financial report.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

(a) Basis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 
2001. The Company is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.

(i) Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
The financial statements of the Company also comply with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board.

(ii) New standards and interpretations adopted by the Company
There are no new standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are effective for the first time 
for the financial year beginning 1 July 2021 that have a material impact on the amounts recognised in the prior periods 
or will affect the current or future periods. 

(iii) Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets and financial 
liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, that have been measured at fair value.

(iv) Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant 
to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 5.

(v) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning 
after 1 July 2022, and have not been early adopted in preparing these financial statements.
None of these are expected to have a material effect on the financial statements of the Company.

(b) Foreign currency translation 

(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
(b) Foreign currency translation continued

(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value 
are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(c) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

(i) Investment income
Profits and losses realised from the sale of investments and unrealised gains and losses on securities at fair value 
are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period they are earned in accordance with the 
policies described in Note 2(j).

(ii) Interest income
Interest income from financial assets at amortised cost is recognised on a time-proportionate basis using the 
effective interest method and includes interest from cash and cash equivalents. Interest from financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss is determined based on the contractual coupon interest rate and includes interest 
from debt securities.

(iii) Dividend income
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised on the ex-dividend date 
with any related foreign withholding tax recorded as an expense. The Company currently incurs withholding tax 
imposed by certain countries on dividend income. Such income is recorded gross of withholding tax in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(iv) Other income
The Company recognises other income when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured and it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow to the Company.

(d) Expenses
All expenses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on an accruals basis.

(e) Income Tax
The income tax expense for the year comprises current income tax expense and deferred tax expense.
Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income. Current tax liabilities/
(assets) are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to/(recovered from) the relevant taxation authority.
Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during 
the year.
Current and deferred income tax (expense)/benefit is charged or credited outside profit or loss when the tax relates 
to items that are recognised outside profit or loss.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled and their measurement also reflects the manner in which management 
expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Continued

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
(e) Income Tax continued
Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised.
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended that 
net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are offset where: (a) a legally enforceable right of set-off exists; and (b) the deferred tax 
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity 
or different taxable entities where it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of 
the respective asset and liability will occur in future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or 
liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled.

Uncertain Taxes
AASB Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments requires the evaluation of whether a tax position of 
the Company is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the applicable taxing authority, including 
resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. Tax positions 
not deemed to meet the more-likely-than-not threshold would be recorded as a tax expense, including interest and 
penalties, in the current year in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The guidance establishes a minimum 
threshold for financial statement recognition of positions taken in filing tax returns, including whether an entity is taxable 
in a particular tax jurisdiction, and requires certain expanded tax disclosures.

(f) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities 
of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value.

(g) Broker advances
Broker advances comprise cash paid by brokers on behalf of the Company under the facility in the prime brokerage 
agreement for the day-to- day settlement of the Company’s sales and purchases of financial instruments in foreign 
currencies. Broker advances are payable on demand.

(h) Due from/to brokers
Amounts due from/to brokers represent receivables for securities sold and payables for securities purchased that 
have been contracted for but not yet delivered by the end of the year. The due from brokers balance is held for 
collection and are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

(i) Other receivables
Receivables may include amounts for interest and dividends. Dividends are accrued when the right to receive 
payment is established. Where applicable, interest is accrued on a daily basis. Amounts are generally received 
within 30 days of being recorded as receivables.

(j) Financial assets and liabilities

Classification
(i) Financial assets
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
• those to be measured at fair value through profit or loss; and
• those to be measured at amortised cost.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
(j) Financial assets and liabilities continued

(i) Financial assets continued
The Company classifies its investments based on its business model for managing those financial assets and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The Company’s portfolio of financial assets is managed 
and performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the Company’s documented investment 
strategy. The Company’s policy is to evaluate the information about these financial assets on a fair value basis 
together with other related financial information.
For equity securities and derivatives, the contractual cash flows of these instruments do not represent solely 
payments of principal and interest. Consequently, these investments are measured at fair value through profit  
or loss.
For cash and cash equivalents and receivables, these assets are held in order to collect the contractual cash flows. 
The contractual terms of these assets give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Consequently, these are measured at amortised cost.

(ii) Financial liabilities
The Company makes short sales in which a borrowed security is sold in anticipation of a decline in the market 
value of that security, or it may use short sales for various arbitrage transactions. Short sales are held for trading 
and are consequently classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Derivative contracts that 
have a negative fair value are presented as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
For financial liabilities that are not classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, these are classified 
as financial liabilities at amortised cost (due to brokers, short dividends payable, management fees payable, interest 
payable and other payables).

Recognition and derecognition
Purchases and sales of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised on 
trade date, the date on which the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset or liability. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred 
and the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are 
derecognised when the obligation under the liabilities are discharged.

Measurement
At initial recognition, the Company measures financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value. Transaction costs 
of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Financial assets and liabilities (other than those classified at fair value through profit or 
loss) are measured initially at their fair value plus any directly attributable incremental costs of acquisition or issue.
Subsequent to initial recognition, all instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Gains 
and losses arising from changes in the fair value and foreign currency translation of financial assets or liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss category are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within net 
gains on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Dividends and 
interest earned or paid on these instruments are recorded separately in dividend and interest income or expense.
Financial liabilities, other than those classified at fair value through profit or loss, are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process.
The effective interest method (EIR) is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial 
liability and of allocating and recognising the interest income or interest expense in profit or loss over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of the financial 
asset or to the amortised cost of the financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Company 
estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments, but does not consider expected 
credit losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral 
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Continued

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
(j) Financial assets and liabilities continued

(ii) Financial liabilities continued
Measurement continued
When an investment is disposed, the cumulative gain or loss, net of tax thereon, is recognised as net gains on 
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Impairment
At each reporting date, the Company shall measure the loss allowance on financial assets at amortised cost (e.g. 
cash, due from broker) at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) if the credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition. If, at the reporting date, the credit risk has not increased significantly since 
initial recognition, the Company shall measure the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit 
losses. The Company’s approach to ECL reflects a probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and 
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about 
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. However, where there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the loss allowance will be based on the lifetime expected 
credit loss. Significant financial difficulties of the counterparty, probability that the counterparty will enter bankruptcy 
or financial reorganisation, and default in payments are all considered indicators that credit risk may have significantly 
increased. A significant increase in credit risk is defined by management as any contractual payment which is more 
than 30 days past due. If the credit risk increases to the point that it is considered to be credit impaired, interest 
income will be calculated based on the gross carrying amount adjusted for the loss allowance. Any contractual 
payment which is more than 90 days past due is considered credit impaired.

(k) Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the Statement of Financial Position where 
the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an intention 
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Refer to Note 11 to the financial 
statements for further information.

(I) Other payables
Payables include liabilities and accrued expenses owed by the Company which are unpaid as at the end of the 
reporting period.

(m) Issued capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity and presented as Issued Capital within the Statement of Changes in Equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are recognised in equity as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the proceeds.

(n) Dividends
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the 
discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting 
period.
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, the Company may pay a dividend where the Company’s assets 
exceed its liabilities, the payment of the dividend is fair and reasonable to the Company’s shareholders as a whole 
and the payment of the dividend does not materially prejudice the Company’s ability to pay its creditors.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
(o) Earnings per share

(i) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:
• the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary 

shares; and
• by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus 

elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:
• the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary 

shares; and
• the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the 

conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(p) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense.
Where applicable, the Company qualifies for RITC at a rate of at least 75%; hence fees for these services have been 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income net of the amount of GST recoverable from the Australian 
Taxation Office.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office is included with other receivables or payables in the 
Statement of Financial Position.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

(q) Rounding of amounts
In accordance with ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191, the amounts 
in the Directors’ Report and in the Financial Report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise specified.

(r) Comparative revisions
Comparative information is revised where appropriate to enhance comparability. Where necessary, comparative 
figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Continued

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate risk, foreign 
exchange risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board of the Company has implemented a risk 
management framework to mitigate these risks.

(a) Market risk
Market risk is defined as the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices.
The Directors believe that there is no significant concentration risk in any particular sector or industry.

(i) Price risk 
Exposure
The Company is exposed to equity securities price risk. This arises from investments held by the Company and 
classified in the Statement of Financial Position as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
The Company and the Investment Manager seek to manage the risk that the Portfolio will decrease in value over 
each financial year.
The Investment Strategy, investment process, investment guidelines and risk measurement tools used by the 
Investment Manager are directed towards managing the risk that the Portfolio will fall in value whilst targeting an 
Absolute Return.
Industry/sector limitations will not be applied to the Company’s Investment Strategy. This is because the Investment 
Manager believes that there is a wide variability in risk levels between sectors over time and also some correlation 
between sector based risks such that limits at a portfolio level are more appropriate to manage portfolio risk.
The portfolio is expected to be diversified across a broad range of sectors and industry groups, thereby reducing 
the risk that portfolio returns will be dependent on the performance of an individual security, sector or industry.

Sensitivity
The following table illustrates the effect on the Company’s equity from possible changes in market risk that were 
reasonably possible based on the risk the Company was exposed to at reporting date, assuming a flat tax rate of 
30%. The analysis is based on the assumption that the net investment portfolio had increased by 5% and 10% or 
decreased by 5% and 10% with all other variables held constant.

Impact on net assets Impact on post‑tax income

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Decrease 5% (107,267) (125,389) (75,087) (87,772)

Increase 5% 107,267 125,389 75,087 87,772

Decrease 10% (214,533) (250,776) (150,173) (175,543)

Increase 10% 214,533 250,776 150,173 175,543

Net assets and profit after tax for the year would increase/decrease as a result of gains/(losses) on equity securities 
classified at fair value through profit or loss.
At balance date, the net position of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss was $2,145,329,000 
(2021: $2,507,758,000).

(ii) Interest rate risk 
Exposure
The Company’s interest bearing financial assets expose it to risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the 
prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. The risk is measured using sensitivity 
analysis.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued
(a) Market risk continued

(ii) Interest rate risk continued
Exposure continued
The table below summarises the Company’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Company’s assets and 
liabilities at fair values, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.

At 30 June 2022

Floating 
interest

rate
$’000

Fixed 
interest

rate
$’000

Non‑interest
bearing

$’000
Total

$’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,310,828  – – 1,310,828

Other receivables  –  – 80,722 80,722

Other current assets  –  – 568 568

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  –  – 2,952,985 2,952,985

Receivable from Manager  –  – 60 60

1,310,828  – 3,034,335 4,345,163

Financial liabilities

Broker advances (1,731,624)  – – (1,731,624)

Other payables -  – (65,550) (65,550)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss -  – (807,656) (807,656)

(1,731,624)  – (873,206) (2,604,830)

Net exposure to interest rate risk (420,796)  – 2,161,129 1,740,333

At 30 June 2021

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 483,995  – – 483,995

Other receivables  –  – 44,208 44,208

Other current assets  –  – 430 430

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  –  – 3,032,182 3,032,182

Receivable from Manager  –  – 49 49

483,995  – 3,076,869 3,560,864

Financial liabilities

Broker advances (1,214,811)  – – (1,214,811)

Other payables  –  – (119,684) (119,684)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  –  – (524,424) (524,424)

(1,214,811)  – (644,108) (644,108)

Net exposure to interest rate risk (730,816)  – 2,432,761 2,916,756
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Continued

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued
(a) Market risk continued

(ii) Interest rate risk continued

Sensitivity
At 30 June 2022, if interest rates had increased or decreased by 100 (2021: 75) basis points (“bps”) from the year 
end rates with all other variables held constant, net assets would have been $4,208,000 lower/$4,208,000 higher 
(2021: $5,481,000 lower/$5,481,000 higher) and profit after tax for the year would have been $2,946,000 
lower/$2,946,000 higher (2021: $3,837,000 lower/$3,837,000 higher), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest 
income from cash and cash equivalents, net of broker advances.

(iii) Foreign exchange risk
Exposure
The Company operates internationally and holds both monetary and non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in currencies other than the Australian dollar. The foreign exchange risk relating to non-monetary assets and liabilities 
is a component of price risk. Foreign exchange risk arises as the value of monetary securities denominated in other 
currencies will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates. The Investment Manager monitors this risk on an 
ongoing basis. The Investment Manager manages risk on an absolute return basis in the reporting currency (i.e. 
Australian dollars), rather than the underlying currencies. Foreign exchange rate risk is managed by depositing 
surplus foreign currency in a foreign currency account for later use, or by borrowing foreign currency to pay for 
foreign currency purchases, and then using the foreign currency to repay the borrowing.
The following table summarises the fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities, monetary and non-
monetary, which are denominated in a currency other than the Australian dollars.
The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, monetary and non-monetary, 
expressed in Australian dollars, was as follows:

30 June 2022
USD

$’000
EUR

$’000
HKD

$’000
GBP

$’000
CAD  

$’000
Others

$’000

Monetary

Cash and cash equivalents – – – – 7,520 –

Other receivables 42,475 2,482 40 – 71 –

Broker advances (429,673) (205,193) (138,516) (221,632) (59,017) (100,543)

Other payables (8,600) (2,681) – – (2,424) (549)

Total Monetary (395,798) (205,392) (138,476) (221,632) (53,850) (101,092)

Non‑monetary

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 324,214 192,291 76,128 203,113 287,958 –

Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss (191,426) – – – – (1,055)

Total Non‑monetary 132,788 192,291 76,128 203,113 287,958 (1,055)

Net exposure (263,010) (13,101) (62,348) (18,519) 234,108 (102,147)
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued
(a) Market risk continued

(iii) Foreign exchange risk continued
Exposure continued

30 June 2021
USD

$’000
EUR

$’000
HKD

$’000
GBP

$’000
CAD  

$’000
Others

$’000

Monetary

Cash and cash equivalents – – – – – 12,141

Other receivables 11,538 16,650 341 5,193 – 11

Broker advances (492,787) (257,189) (104,953) (230,032) (14,683) (115,167)

Other payables (37,037) – – (1,470) – –

Total Monetary (518,286) (240,539) (104,612) (226,309) (14,683) (103,015)

Non‑monetary

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 379,096 257,784 107,096 124,488 148,160 90,002

Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss (83,778) – – – – (35,797)

Total Non‑monetary 295,318 257,784 107,096 124,488 148,160 54,205

Net exposure (222,968) 17,245 2,484 (101,821) 133,477 (48,810)

Sensitivity
The analysis is based on the assumption that the Australian dollar weakened and strengthened by 10% against the 
foreign currencies to which the Company’s monetary securities are exposed. The impact on post-tax profit for the 
period would be as follows:

Impact on net assets Impact on post‑tax income

30 June 2022
$’000

30 June 2021
$’000

30 June 2022
$’000

30 June 2021
$’000

USD/AUD exchange rate – (increase) 10% (39,580) (51,829) (27,706) (36,280)

USD/AUD exchange rate – decrease 10% 39,580 51,829 27,706 36,280

EUR/AUD exchange rate – (increase) 10% (20,539) (24,054) (14,377) (16,838)

EUR/AUD exchange rate – decrease 10% 20,539 24,054 14,377 16,838

HKD/AUD exchange rate – (increase) 10% (13,847) (10,461) (9,693) (7,323)

HKD/AUD exchange rate – decrease 10% 13,847 10,461 9,693 7,323

GBP/AUD exchange rate – (increase) 10% (22,163) (22,631) (15,514) (15,842)

GBP/AUD exchange rate – decrease 10% 22,163 22,631 15,514 15,842

CAD/AUD exchange rate – (increase) 10% (5,386) (1,469) (3,770) (1,028)

CAD/AUD exchange rate – decrease 10% 5,386 1,469 3,770 1,028

Others/AUD exchange rate – (increase) 10% (10,109) (10,301) (7,076) (7,211)

Others/AUD exchange rate – decrease 10% 10,109 10,301 7,076 7,211
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Continued

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party 
by failing to discharge an obligation.
Under the arrangements which the Company has entered into to facilitate stock borrowing for covered short selling, 
borrowed stock is collateralised by the long stock portfolio. If the stock borrowing counterparty became insolvent, 
it is possible that the Company may not recover all of the collateral that the Company gave to the counterparty. 
The collateral on securities sold short is set at 100% of the borrowed stock.
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to 
recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed 
in the Statement of Financial Position and Notes to the Financial Statements. The Company is also exposed to 
counterparty credit risk on cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from brokers and other receivables.

Financial assets subject to AASB 9’s impairment requirements
The Company determines credit risk and measures expected credit losses for financial assets measured at amortised 
cost using probability of default, exposure at default and loss given default. Management consider both historical 
analysis and forward looking information in determining any expected credit loss. At 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021, 
all receivables, amounts due from brokers, cash and short-term deposits are held with counterparties with a credit 
rating of BBB+ or higher and are either callable on demand or due to be settled within 1 week. Management 
consider the probability of default to be close to zero as these instruments have a low risk of default and the 
counterparties have a strong capacity to meet their contractual obligations in the near term. As a result, no loss 
allowance has been recognised based on 12-month expected credit losses as any such impairment would be 
wholly insignificant to the Company.
None of these assets are overdue, hence, these assets are not subject to material impairment. 
The Company manages credit risk by only entering into agreements with credit worthy parties.
At 30 June 2022, the long-term credit ratings of the Company’s bank, prime brokers and debtors as per Standard 
and Poor’s were as follows:

2022 2021

National Australia Bank AA- AA-

Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc A+ BBB+

Macquarie Bank Limited A+ A+

Credit Suisse AG A+ A+

Goldman Sachs International A+ A+

L1 Capital Pty Ltd N/A N/A

The Company’s cash at bank is held mainly with National Australia Bank. The Company held 99.92% of cash at 
broker with Morgan Stanley and the remaining with Credit Suisse and Goldman Sachs International (2021: 48% 
Morgan Stanley, 52% Credit Suisse). The Investment Manager monitors the financial position of the counterparties 
on a regular basis.

Financial assets not subject to AASB 9’s impairment requirements
The credit risk factors relating to derivatives have been considered and credit valuation adjustments (CVA) for 
counterparty credit risk and debit valuation adjustments (DVA) for own credit risk have been assessed to the over-
the-counter derivatives to be not significant in the current period.
The Company is exposed to credit risk on debt instruments and derivative assets. These classes of financial assets 
are not subject to AASB 9’s impairment requirements as they are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The 
carrying value of these assets represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk on financial instruments 
not subject to the AASB 9 impairment requirements on the respective reporting dates. Hence, no separate maximum 
exposure to credit risk disclosure is provided for these instruments.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued
(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities. 
The Investment Manager manages liquidity risk by monitoring the asset size of the Company as a whole on executing 
transactions.
The assets of the Company are largely in the form of readily tradeable securities which can be sold on-market if 
necessary. Accordingly, the Company is not considered to be exposed to material liquidity risk.

Maturities of financial liabilities
All non-derivative financial liabilities of the Company have maturities of less than 1 month.

Maturities of net settled derivative financial instruments
All net settled derivative financial instruments of the Company have maturities of 1 to 6 months.

4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Company measures and recognises the following assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis: 
• Equity securities
• Derivatives
• Listed unit trusts
The Company has no assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis in the current reporting 
period.
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value 
measurement hierarchy:
(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1),
(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 

(as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2), and
(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

(i)  Fair value in an active market (level 1)
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets (such as listed equity securities) is based on 
quoted market prices at the close of trading at the end of the reporting period without any deduction for estimated 
future selling costs.
The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Company is the last sale price. When the Company 
holds derivatives with offsetting market risks, it uses mid-market prices as a basis for establishing fair values for 
the offsetting risk positions and applies this bid or asking price to the net open position, as appropriate.
A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available 
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent 
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.
An active market is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and 
volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

(ii)  Fair value in an inactive or unquoted market (level 2 and level 3)
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation 
techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, reference to the current fair value 
of a substantially similar other instrument, discounted cash flow techniques, option pricing models or any other 
valuation technique that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained in actual market transactions.
Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on management’s best 
estimates and the discount rate used is a market rate at the end of the reporting period applicable for an instrument 
with similar terms and conditions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Continued

4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS continued
(ii)  Fair value in an inactive or unquoted market (level 2 and level 3) continued
For other pricing models, including equity swaps, inputs are based on market data at the end of the reporting 
period. Fair values for unquoted equity investments are estimated, if possible, using applicable price/earnings 
ratios for similar listed companies adjusted to reflect the specific circumstances of the issuer.
Some of the inputs to these models may not be market observable and are therefore estimated based on 
assumptions. The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that cannot be determined 
with certainty, and valuation techniques employed may not fully reflect all factors relevant to the positions the 
Company holds. Valuations are therefore adjusted, where appropriate, to allow for additional factors including 
liquidity risk and counterparty risk.

(iii) Recognised fair value measurements
The following table presents the Company’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value:

At 30 June 2022
Level 1

$’000
Level2

$’000
Level3

$’000
Total

$’000

Financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss

Swaps – 1,255 – 1,255

Australian share price index futures 11,825 – – 11,825

Options – 11,009 – 11,009

Australian listed equity securities 1,855,083 – – 1,855,083

International listed equity securities 1,073,813 – – 1,073,813

Total financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss 2,940,721 12,264 – 2,952,985

Financial liabilities at fair value  
through profit or loss

Swaps – 1,056 – 1,056

Australian listed equity securities 615,175 – – 615,175

International listed equity securities 191,425 – – 191,425

Total financial liabilities at fair value  
through profit or loss 806,600 1,056 – 807,656
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4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS continued
(iii) Recognised fair value measurements continued

At 30 June 2021
Level 1

$’000
Level2

$’000
Level3

$’000
Total

$’000

Financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss

Australian share price index futures 7,074 – – 7,074

Australian listed equity securities 1,878,156 – – 1,878,156

International listed equity securities 1,043,479 – – 1,043,479

International unlisted equity securities – – 63,147 63,147

Australian listed property trusts 40,326 – – 40,326

Total financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss 2,969,035 – 63,147 3,032,182

Financial liabilities at fair value  
through profit or loss

Swaps – 3,313 – 3,313

Australian listed equity securities 402,504 – – 402,504

International listed equity securities 118,607 – – 118,607

Total financial liabilities at fair value  
through profit or loss 521,111 3,313 – 524,424

The Company’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of 
the reporting period.
There was a transfer from level 3 to level 1 during the year ended 30 June 2022 due to the listing of one of the 
international unlisted equity securities in the US stock exchange.
Other than the above, there were no transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy for the year ended 
30 June 2022.

(iv) Level 3 reconciliation
The following table shows a reconciliation of all movements in the fair value of items categorised within Level 3 
between the beginning and the end of the year:

2022

Australian 
listed

equity 
securities

$’000

International
unlisted 

equity
securities

$’000
Total  

$’000

Balance as at 1 July 2021 – 63,147 63,147

Transfer to Level 1 – (63,147) (63,147)

Balance as at 30 June 2022 – – –
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Continued

4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS continued
(iv) Level 3 reconciliation continued

2021

Australian 
listed

equity 
securities

$’000

International
unlisted 

equity
securities

$’000
Total  

$’000

Balance as at 1 July 2020 (4,262) – (4,262)

Purchases – 49,051 49,051

Sales 1,291 – 1,291

Fair value gain 2,971 14,096 17,067

Balance as at 30 June 2021 – 63,147 63,147

(v) Quantitative information of significant unobservable inputs – Level 3
The following table summarises the valuation technique and significant unobservable input used for the Company’s 
investment that is categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2021.

Description Valuation technique Unobservable input

Range 
(weighted 
average)

Fair value 
$’000

Unlisted equities – 
private placement

Management appraised valuation 
using capitalisation of earnings 
method, independently reviewed 
by an external valuation specialist

EBITDA multiple 10x 63,147

For the Level 3 securities as at 30 June 2021, the Company considers the most recent available transaction prices 
as the most material input used in determining the price, as such the Company did not create material alternate 
quantitative inputs when measuring fair value as it has primarily relied on recent transaction prices.

(vi)  Sensitivity analysis to significant changes in unobservable inputs within Level 3 hierarchy
As at 30 June 2022, there were no unlisted equity securities in Level 3.
As at 30 June 2021, the significant unobservable input used in the fair value measurement categorised within  
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis are shown below:

 
 
Description Input Sensitivity used

Effect on  
fair value 

$’000

Unlisted equities – private placement EBITDA multiple 7x – 11x (21,606)/7,204

(vii) Disclosed fair values
For all financial instruments other than those measured at fair value their carrying value approximates fair value.
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and payables are reasonable approximations of their fair 
values due to their short-term nature.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.

Income taxes
The Company has recognised deferred tax liabilities from unrealised gains on financial instruments and other 
temporary differences of $5,366,000 at 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: $119,565,000) and deferred tax assets 
relating to unrealised losses on financial instruments and other temporary differences of $34,277,000 at 30 June 2022 
(30 June 2021: $2,185,000). Refer to Note 12 for further discussion of accounting for deferred taxes.

Uncertain taxes
For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Directors have evaluated the Company’s tax positions and concluded that 
no recognition of uncertain tax position is required in the Company’s financial statements.
The Company identifies its major tax jurisdictions as those where the Company is domiciled and makes significant 
investments. The Directors do not believe there are positions for which it is reasonably possible that the total 
amounts of unrecognized tax liabilities will materially change within 12 months of the reporting date.

Financial instruments
For the majority of the Company’s financial instruments, quoted market prices are readily available. However, certain 
financial instruments, for example over-the-counter derivatives or unquoted securities, are fair valued using valuation 
techniques. Where valuation techniques (for example, pricing models) are used to determine fair values, they are 
validated and periodically reviewed by experienced personnel of the Investment Manager, independent of the 
area that created them.
Models use observable data, to the extent practicable. However, areas such as credit risk (both own and counterparty), 
volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates. Changes in assumptions about these factors 
could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. For more information on how fair value is calculated 
please see Note 4 to the financial statements.
For financial instruments measured at amortised cost, the expected credit loss impairment assessment considers 
the probability of default which was assessed to be close to zero.

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Company has only one reportable segment. The Company operates in one industry being the securities 
industry, deriving revenue from dividend and trust distribution income, interest income and from the sale of its 
trading portfolio.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Continued

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
(a) Income tax expense through profit or loss

Year Ended

30 June 2022
$’000

30 June 2021
$’000

Income tax expense 42,240 210,717

42,240 210,717

Income tax expense composition:

Current income tax expense 190,703 10,254

Deferred income tax (benefit)/expense (148,463) 200,463

42,240 210,717

Income tax expense is attributable to:

Profit from continuing operations 42,240 210,717

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax benefit to prima facie tax payable

Year Ended

30 June 2022
$’000

30 June 2021
$’000

Profit from continuing operations before income tax benefit 183,313 724,909

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30.0% (2021: 30.0%) 54,994 217,473

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating  
taxable income:

Imputation credit gross up (12,754) (6,756)

Income tax expense 42,240 210,717

The applicable weighted average effective tax rates are as follows: 23.04% 29.07%
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7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE continued
(c) Amounts recognised directly in equity

Year Ended

Notes
30 June 2022

$’000
30 June 2021

$’000

Aggregate deferred tax arising in the reporting period and not 
recognised in net profit or loss or other comprehensive income  
but directly debited or credited to equity:

Deferred tax – Share issue costs 12 2,172 2,172

8. CURRENT ASSETS – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at

30 June 2022
$’000

30 June 2021
$’000

Cash at bank 5,403 7,081

Cash at broker 1,305,425 476,914

1,310,828 483,995

9. CURRENT ASSETS – OTHER RECEIVABLES

As at

30 June 2022
$’000

30 June 2021
$’000

Dividends receivable 4,273 5,060

Interest receivable 522 56

GST receivable 618 424

Withholding tax receivable 459 459

Due from brokers 74,850 38,209

80,722 44,208

Receivables are non-interest bearing and unsecured.

10. CURRENT ASSETS – FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

As at

30 June 2022
$’000

30 June 2021
$’000

Swap 1,255 –

Options 11,009 –

Australian listed equity securities 1,855,083 1,918,482

International listed equity securities 1,073,813 1,043,479

International unlisted equity securities – 63,147

Australian share price index futures 11,825 7,074

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2,952,985 3,032,182
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Continued

10. CURRENT ASSETS – FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS continued
Listed securities are readily saleable with no fixed terms.
Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in net gains on financial 
instruments at fair value through profit or loss in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(a) Investment transactions
The total number of contract notes that were issued for transactions in securities during the financial year was 
4,133 (2021: 4,478). Each investment transaction may involve multiple contract notes.
The total brokerage paid on these contract notes was $17,287,000, inclusive of GST (2021: $14,818,000).

(b) Risk exposure and fair value measurements
Information about the Company’s exposure to price risk and about the methods and assumptions used in 
determining fair value is provided in Note 3 and Note 4 to the financial statements.

11. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into transactions in derivative financial instruments with 
certain risks. A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract whose value depends on, or is derived from, 
underlying assets, liabilities or indices. Derivative transactions include a wide assortment of instruments, such as 
forwards, futures, options and swaps.
Derivatives are considered to be part of the investment process. The use of derivatives is an essential part of the 
Company’s portfolio management. Derivatives are not managed in isolation. Consequently, the use of derivatives 
is multi-faceted and includes:

(i) hedging to protect an asset of the Company against a fluctuation in market values or to reduce volatility;
(ii) as a substitute for physical securities; and
(iii) adjustment of asset exposures within the parameters set out in the investment strategy.

Derivative financial instruments require no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than 
would be required for other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in 
market factors.
The Company holds the following derivative instruments:

Futures
Futures are contractual obligations to buy or sell financial instruments on a future date at a specified price established 
in an organised market. The futures contracts are collateralised by cash or marketable securities. Changes in futures 
contracts’ values are usually settled net daily with the exchange.

Equity/index swaps
An equity/index swap is an agreement between counterparties to exchange a set of payments, determined by a 
stock or index return, with another set of payments (usually an interest-bearing (fixed or floating rate) instrument, but 
they can also be the return on another stock or index). Equity/index swaps are used to substitute for a direct transaction 
in stock. The two cash flows are usually referred to as “legs”. As with other swaps, the difference in the payment 
streams is netted.
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11. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
Options
An option is a contractual arrangement under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser (holder) the right, but 
not the obligation, either to buy (a call option) or sell (a put option) at or by a set date or during a set period, a 
specific amount of securities or a financial instrument at a predetermined price. The seller receives a premium 
from the purchaser in consideration for the assumption of future securities price risk. Options held by the Fund 
are over-the-counter (OTC). The Fund is exposed to credit risk on purchased options to the extent of their carrying 
amount, which is their fair value. Options are settled on a gross basis.
The Company’s derivative financial instruments at year end are detailed below:

Fair values

30 June 2022

Notional 
values  

$’000
Assets 

$’000
Liabilities 

$’000

Swaps (39,199) 1,255 1,056

Options 88,828 11,009 –

Australian share price index futures (738,850) 11,825 –

30 June 2021

Swaps 13,548 – 3,313

Australian share price index futures (718,720) 7,074 –

Risk exposures and fair value measurements
Information about the Company’s exposure to price risk, credit risk, foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and 
liquidity risk and about the methods and assumptions used in determining fair values is provided in Note 3 and 
Note 4 to the financial statements.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities are presented net in the Statement of Financial Position where the Company 
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Certain derivative assets and liabilities are subject to legally enforceable master netting arrangements, such as an 
International Swaps and Derivatives Association (“ISDA”) master netting agreement. The ISDA agreements in place 
meet the criteria for offsetting in the Statement of Financial Position as the Company has a currently legally 
enforceable right of payment netting to net same day, same currency payments by derivative transaction type.
In certain circumstances, for example, when a credit event such as a default occurs, all outstanding transactions 
under an ISDA agreement are terminated, the termination value is assessed and only a net amount is payable in 
settlement of all transactions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Continued

11. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities continued
The gross and net positions of financial assets and liabilities that have been offset in the Statement of Financial 
Position are disclosed in the first three columns of the table below.

30 June 2022

Gross 
amounts

$’000

Amounts set 
off in the 

Statement of 
Financial 

Position
$’000

Net amounts 
presented in 

the Statement 
of Financial 

Position
$’000

Cash 
collateral 

(received)/ 
pledged

$’000
Net amount

$’000

Derivative assets

Australian share price  
index futures

Morgan Stanley & Co. 
International plc 11,825 – 11,825 – 11,825

Options

Morgan Stanley & Co. 
International plc 11,009 – 11,009 – 11,009

Swaps

Goldman Sachs International 1,255 – 1,255 115,126 116,381

Derivative liabilities

Swaps

Morgan Stanley & Co. 
International plc 1,056 – 1,056 – 1,056

30 June 2021

Derivative assets

Australian share price  
index futures

Credit Suisse AG 7,074 – 7,074 – 7,074

Swaps

Morgan Stanley & Co. 
International Plc 1,138 (1,138) – 54,397 54,397

Derivative liabilities

Swaps

Morgan Stanley & Co. 
International Plc 4,451 (1,138) 3,313 – 3,313
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12. DEFERRED TAXES

As at

30 June 2022
$’000

30 June 2021
$’000

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Deferred tax assets

Net unrealised losses on investments 34,254 –

Capitalised share issue costs – 2,171

Other temporary differences 23 14

Deferred tax assets 34,277 2,185

Deferred tax liabilities

Net unrealised gains on investments 4,314 118,159

Other temporary differences 1,052 1,406

Deferred tax liabilities 5,366 119,565

Deferred tax (liabilities)/assets, net 28,911 (117,380)

As at

30 June 2022
$’000

30 June 2021
$’000

Movements:

Deferred tax assets

Opening balance 2,185 92,722

Debited/(Credited):

Directly to equity (2,172) (2,172)

Directly to profit or loss 34,264 (88,365)

Closing balance, Deferred tax assets 34,277 2,185

Deferred tax liabilities

Opening balance 119,565 9,639

Debited/(Credited):

Directly to profit or loss (114,199) 109,926

Closing balance, Deferred tax liabilities 5,366 119,565

Closing balance, Deferred tax (liabilities)/assets, net 28,911 (117,380)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Continued

13. CURRENT LIABILITIES – OTHER PAYABLES

As at

30 June 2022
$’000

30 June 2021
$’000

Management fees payable 2,401 2,122

Performance fees payable 1,934 68,074

Interest payable 1,120 600

Due to brokers 57,379 48,482

Short dividends payable 1,968 –

Other payables 748 406

65,550 119,684

Other payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
Due to their short-term nature, the carrying amounts of other payables are reasonable approximations of their fair values.

14. CURRENT LIABILITIES – FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

As at

30 June 2022
$’000

30 June 2021
$’000

Swaps 1,056 3,313

Australian listed equity securities 615,175 402,504

International listed equity securities 191,425 118,607

Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 807,656 524,424

When the Company sells securities it does not possess, it has to cover this short position by acquiring securities 
at a later date and is therefore exposed to price risk of those securities sold short. The sales agreement is usually 
settled by delivering borrowed securities. However, the Company is required to return those borrowed securities 
at a later date.

15. ISSUED CAPITAL
(a) Share capital

Notes

30 June 2022 
Shares

’000

30 June 2021 
Shares

’000
30 June 2022

$’000
30 June 2021

$’000

Ordinary Shares 15(c) 611,162 606,619 1,253,801 1,241,165
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15. ISSUED CAPITAL continued
(b) Movements in issued capital

Notes
Shares 

’000 $’000

Opening balance – 30 June 2021 15(d) 606,619 1,215,825

Dividend reinvestment 2,674 7,356

Performance fee reinvestment (1) 1,869 5,279

Closing balance ‑ 30 June 2022 611,162 1,228,460

Opening balance – 30 June 2020 15(d) 649,064 1,287,021

Share buyback (43,060) (72,518)

Dividend reinvestment 615 1,322

Closing balance – 30 June 2021 606,619 1,215,825
(1)  Under the Investment Management Agreement (IMA), the owners of the Investment Manager will reinvest their after-tax proceeds from 
any performance fees (Performance Fee Reinvestment Amount) into shares in the Company. The Company will determine whether to issue 
new shares or the owners of the Investment Manager will acquire shares on-market based on the criteria set-out in the IMA. During the 
year, 1,868,591 new shares were issued and 18,599,535 were bought on-market, resulting in a total of 20,468,216 shares being acquired 
or issued in relation to the Performance Fee Reinvestment Amount. Further information in respect of the Company’s reinvestment of 
performance fee is contained in Section 9.1 of the Company’s Prospectus which was issued on 16 February 2018.

(c) Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held.
On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one 
vote, and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote.

(d) Shares issued
On 27 February 2020, the Company announced a new on-market buy-back of up to 10% of its shares, commencing 
16 March 2020 and continuing for up to 12 months. The Company announced on 12 February 2021 that it will 
extend its share buy-back program for a further 12 months from 16 March 2021. On 18 May 2022, the Company 
announced a renewal of the on-market buy-back program that the Company has previously in place, commencing 
1 June 2022 and continuing for up to 12 months. No shares were bought back over the year ended 30 June 2022 
(2021: 43,059,924 shares (6.48%)).
On 22 October 2021, the Company issued 1,868,591 fully paid ordinary shares at $2.8255 in relation to the 
reinvestment of performance fee.

(e) Capital risk management
The Board of Directors will actively manage the capital of the Company. The overriding intention is to deliver value 
to shareholders.
To achieve this, the Board monitors the monthly NTA results, investment performance, the Company’s indirect cost 
ratio and share price movements.
The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

16. DIVIDENDS
(a) Dividend rate
On 25 August 2021, the Directors declared a fully franked final dividend of 3 cents per share with record date of 
14 September 2021 and paid to the shareholders on 1 October 2021.
On 25 February 2022, the Directors declared a fully franked interim dividend of 4 cents per share with record date 
of 15 March 2022 and paid to the shareholders on 1 April 2022.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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16. DIVIDENDS continued
(a) Dividend rate continued
On 26 August 2022, the Directors declared a fully franked final dividend of 4.50 cents per share with record date 
of 13 September 2022 and payable to the shareholders on 30 September 2022.

(b) Dividend franking account

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

The amount of franking credits for subsequent financial years are:

– franking account balance as at the end of the financial year at tax rate  
of 30% (2021: 30%) 124,453 14,991

– franking credits that will arise from franked dividends receivable as at 
the end of the financial year 696 306

– franking credits that will arise from the payment of income tax payable 
as at the end of the financial year 83,818 10,254 

208,967 25,551 

The amount of franking credits available for future reporting periods:

– impact on the franking credit account of the dividend declared but not 
recognised as a liability at the end of the financial year at tax rate of 30% 
(2021: 30%) (11,699) (7,799)

197,268  17,752 

The Company’s ability to pay franked dividends is dependent upon receipt of franked dividends from investments 
and the Company paying tax.

17. DIVIDEND PROFIT RESERVE
The dividend profit reserve is made up of amounts allocated from retained earnings that are preserved for future 
dividends payments. The allocation is determined at the end of each half-year where the Company reported a 
profit subject to the approval of the Directors.

As at

Movement in Dividend Profit Reserve
30 June 2022

$’000
30 June 2021

$’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 504,977 –

Transferred from current period profits 141,073 514,192

Payment of dividend (42,593) (9,215)

Closing balance at the end of the year 603,457 504,977

On 12 January 2022, the Directors resolved to approve the transfer of any resulting net profit after tax for the half-
year ended 31 December 2021 to the dividend profit reserve. Accordingly, on 31 December 2021, the transfer of 
$129,829,000 was made to the reserve. Further transfer of $11,244,000 was made to the reserve on 30 June 2022 
which is in line with the board resolution dated 28 June 2022.
The balance of the dividend profit reserve as of 30 June 2022 is $603,457,000.
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18. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
(a) Key management personnel compensation

Year ended

30 June 2022
$

30 June 2021
$

Short-term employee benefits 353,182 315,684

Post-employment benefits 16,818 14,316

370,000 330,000

As at 30 June 2022, there were no Directors’ fees payable (2021: nil).
Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the remuneration report.

(b) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel

Shareholdings
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director of the Company and other 
key management personnel of the Company, including their personally related parties, are set out below. There 
were no shares granted during the reporting period as compensation.

30 June 2022

Balance at 
the start of 

the year Acquisitions Disposals

Balance at 
end of the 

year

Directors of L1 Long Short Fund Limited

Andrew Larke 775,000 250,846 – 1,025,846

John Macfarlane 629,360 16,054 – 645,414

Harry Kingsley 25,174 642 – 25,816

Raphael Lamm* 26,696,300 12,505,207 – 39,201,507

Mark Landau* 31,634,621 12,028,708 – 43,663,329

59,760,455 24,801,457 – 84,561,912

30 June 2021

Directors of L1 Long Short Fund Limited

Andrew Larke 775,000 – – 775,000

John Macfarlane 500,000 129,360 – 629,360

Harry Kingsley 25,000 174 – 25,174

Raphael Lamm* 14,937,752 11,758,548 – 26,696,300

Mark Landau* 18,689,588 12,945,033 – 31,634,621

34,927,340 24,833,115 – 59,760,455

* Raphael Lamm and Mark Landau have an interest in the shares held by L1 Employees Remuneration Trust and L1 Investment Trust 
by virtue of s608(1) of the Corporations Act 2001.

Ordinary shares held by the following Directors are subject to voluntary escrow for a period which is the earlier of 
(a) the period of 10 years from the date that the Company is listed on the exchange or (b) the duration of the 
Investment Management Agreement:
• Raphael Lamm - 17,785,179 shares (2021: 9,086,225 shares)
• Mark Landau - 17,785,179 shares (2021: 9,086,225 shares)
All of the key management personnel held shares during the years ended 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021.
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19. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
During the year, the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Company and 
its related practices:

Year ended

30 June 2022
$

30 June 2021
$

Fees to Ernst & Young (Australia)

Fees for auditing the statutory financial report 86,000 84,000

Fees for other assurance and agreed-upon-procedures services under other 
legislation or contractual arrangements where there is discretion as to whether 
the service is provided by the auditor or another firm

• Agreed-upon-assurance procedures on investment mandate compliance 13,000 13,000

• Agreed-upon-assurance procedures on performance fees 25,000 33,000

• Fees for tax governance services 40,000 –

Total fees to Ernst & Young (Australia) 164,000 130,000

Fees to other overseas member firms of Ernst & Young (Australia) – –

Total auditor’s remuneration 164,000 130,000

The Investment Manager, on behalf of the Company, records and pays income tax return filing services of Ernst & 
Young. The Company’s Audit and Risk Committee oversees the relationship with the Company’s External Auditors. 
The Audit and Risk Committee reviews the scope of the audit and the proposed fee.

20. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
The Company had no contingent assets, liabilities or commitments as at 30 June 2022 (2021: nil).
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21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in Note 18.

(b) Transactions with other related parties
All transactions with related entities were made under normal commercial terms and conditions at arm’s length 
no more favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.
Management fees (inclusive of the net impact of GST and RITC) incurred during the year amounted to $28,027,000 
(2021: $20,639,000) of which $2,401,000 (2021: $2,122,000) remained payable as at year end.
In addition, L1 Capital is entitled to be paid by the Company a fee equal to 20.00% (plus GST) (20.50% inclusive of 
the net impact of GST and RITC) of the Portfolio’s outperformance, if any, over each performance calculation 
period, subject to a high watermark mechanism. Further information in respect of the Company’s performance 
fee calculation is contained in Section 9.1 of the Company’s Prospectus which was issued on 16 February 2018.
Performance fees (inclusive of the net impact of GST and RITC) incurred during the year amounted to $46,422,000 
(2021: $128,687,000) of which $1,934,000 (2021: $68,074,000) remained payable as at year end.
The expense recoveries borne by the Company are paid directly to the service provider and are subsequently 
reimbursed by the Investment Manager. Expense recoveries include ASX fees, ASIC fees, custodian, administrator, 
tax professional fees and other expenses. Total amount reimbursed by the Investment Manager for the year ended 
30 June 2022 was $754,000 (2021: $616,000), of which $60,000 (2021: $49,000) was receivable at year end.
No Director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than those detailed above) by reason of a 
contract made by the Company or a related Company with the Director or with a firm of which he is a member or 
with a Company in which he has substantial financial interest.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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22.   RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES

Year ended

30 June 2022
$’000

30 June 2021
$’000

Profit for the year 141,073 514,192

Purchase of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (6,163,964) (5,518,225)

Proceeds from sale of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 6,777,832 5,088,515

Net gains on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (276,885) (838,423)

Dividend reinvested (2,301) (2,362)

Performance fee reinvested 5,279 –

Effects of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash and  
cash equivalents 40,445  (27,072)

Change in operating assets and liabilities

Decrease in other receivables (current) 115  1,838 

Increase in other current assets (138) (86)

(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets (32,091) 83,083

(Decrease)/increase in other payables (63,030) 67,634

(Decrease)/increase in deferred tax liabilities (114,199) 117,380

Increase in provision for income tax 73,564 10,254

Net cash inflow from/(used in) operating activities 385,700 (503,272)

23. PROFITS PER SHARE
(a) Basic profits per share

Year Ended

30 June 2022
Cents

30 June 2021
Cents

Basic profits per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders  
of the Company 23.16  82.72 

(b) Diluted profits per share

Year Ended

30 June 2022
Cents

30 June 2021
Cents

Diluted profits per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
Company 23.16  82.72 

Diluted profits per share are the same as basic profits per share.
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23. PROFITS PER SHARE continued
(c) Weighted average number of shares used as denominator

Year Ended

30 June 2022
Number

30 June 2021
Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used  
as the denominator in calculating basic profits per share 609,229,901 621,573,496

Weighted average number of ordinary and potential ordinary shares  
used as the denominator in calculating diluted profits per share 609,229,901 621,573,496

24.  EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 26 August 2022, the Directors declared a fully franked final dividend of 4.50 cents per share with record date 
of 13 September 2022 and payable to the shareholders on 30 September 2022.
The Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) is in operation under which the shareholders may elect to have all or part 
of their dividend payment reinvested in new ordinary shares. Participating shareholders will be entitled to be allotted 
the number of shares (rounded down to the nearest whole number) which the cash dividend would purchase at 
the relevant allocation price. The relevant allocation price is the arithmetic average of the daily volume weighted 
average sale price (calculated to the nearest cent) of shares traded on the ASX over the five trading days commencing 
on the ex-dividend date for the relevant dividend, without any discount. The last day for the receipt of an election 
notice for participation in the DRP is 14 September 2022.
No other matter or circumstance that has occurred since the end of the year that has significantly affected, or may 
affect, the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Company in 
subsequent financial years.
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25.   INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (LONG POSITIONS) AS AT 30 JUNE 2022
Company name

Alco Meg Energy
Alibaba Group Holding-SP ADR (UN) Mineral Resources
Allkem News Corp
Als Queensland Nexgen Energy
Alumina Nickel Mines
Anteris Technologies Nufarm
Bluescope Steel Peet
Boral Perenti Global
Capstone Mining Qantas Airways
Carsales.com QBE Insurance Group
Cenovus Energy Ramsay Health Care
Chorus Reliance Worldwide
Ck Hutchison Holdings Rio Tinto
Cooper Energy Safran S.A.
Coronado Global Resources Inc Sandfire Resources
Entain PLC Santos
F45 Training Holding SES S.A.
Ferguson PLC Seven Group Holdings
Flutter Entertainment PLC Smartgroup
Fraport Ag Frankfurt Airport Services Worldwide Solaris Resources
Galan Lithium St Barbara
Graphic Packaging Holding Star Entertainment Group
Hastings Technology Metals Teck Resources Ltd Class B
Hudbay Minerals Inc Tourmaline Oil Corp
Imdex United Malt Group
James Hardie Industries Volkswagen A.G.
John Wood Group PLC Warrior Met Coal
Karoon Gas Australia Webjet
Liberty Group West African Resources
Link Administration Holdings Westgold Resources
Madrigal Pharmaceuticals

Total Long Portfolio ($'000)  2,952,985 

Total Short Portfolio ($'000)  807,656 

Net Equity Portfolio ($'000)  2,145,329 

Notes to the Financial Statements
Continued
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Directors’ Declaration
For the year ended 30 June 2022

In the opinion of the Directors of L1 Long Short Fund Limited:
(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 18 to 48 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including:
(i) complying with Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 

professional reporting requirements; and
(ii) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its performance 

for the year ended on that date; and
(b) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable.
Note 2(a) confirms that the financial statements also complies with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the 
Investment Manager required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Andrew Larke  
Independent Chairman
Melbourne 
26 August 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of L1 Long Short Fund Limited

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Ernst & Young 
200 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia 
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001 

 Tel: +61 2 9248 5555 
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959 
ey.com/au 

 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of L1 Long Short Fund Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of L1 Long Short Fund Limited (the Company), which comprises 
the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ 
declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

a. Giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its 
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.   

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit 
addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial report section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit 
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the 
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the 
accompanying financial report. 
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Page 2 

 
1. Investment existence and valuation 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
The Company has a significant investment 
portfolio consisting of securities in listed 
equities, equity and index swaps, and futures 
contracts.  

As at 30 June 2022, the values of these 
financial assets and financial liabilities, set out in 
Note 10 and Note 14 of the financial report, 
were $2,952,985,000 and $807,656,000, 
which equate to 68% and 30% of the total assets 
and total liabilities respectively of the Company. 

As detailed in the Company’s accounting policy, 
as described in Note 2(j) of the financial report, 
these financial assets and financial liabilities are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss in 
accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards.  

Pricing, exchange rates and other market 
drivers can have a significant impact on the 
value of these financial assets and financial 
liabilities, and the financial report. Accordingly, 
existence and valuation of the investment 
portfolio were considered a key audit matter. 

We obtained and considered the assurance 
report on the controls of the Company’s 
administrator, in relation to the fund 
administration services for the year ended 30 
June 2022 and considered the auditor’s 
credentials, their objectivity and the results of 
their procedures. 

We independently obtained investment and cash 
confirmations from the Company’s custodians, 
prime brokers, counterparties, investees, and 
banks. 

We assessed whether the fair values of financial 
assets and financial liabilities were determined 
in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards. Our procedures included: 

► For listed securities, the values were 
agreed to independently sourced market 
prices; 

► For over-the-counter (“OTC”) 
derivatives, we recalculated their fair 
value based on independently sourced 
observable market inputs. 

 

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in 
Note 3, Note 4, Note 10, Note 11 and Note 14 
of the financial report. 

 
2.Management and Performance Fees 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
Management and performance fees paid to L1 
Capital Pty Ltd (“L1” or “the Manager”) are the 
most significant expenses of the Company. The 
Company’s accounting policy for management 
and performance fees is described in Note 21 of 
the financial report.  

The management fee is calculated daily and paid 
monthly in arrears. The Manager is entitled to be 
paid monthly a management fee equal to 1.4% 
(plus GST) per annum of the value of the 
portfolio.  

Performance fees are recognised in the financial 
report if the performance hurdles for the 
Company have been met at the end of the 
relevant measurement period, which is the date 

We assessed the effectiveness of the controls in 
relation to the calculation of management and 
performance fees of the Company’s 
administrator which has responsibility for the 
calculations.  
 
We recalculated management and performance 
fees in accordance with relevant service 
arrangements including agreeing the contract 
rate to the calculations.  
 
We assessed the performance fee calculation, 
including testing the inputs into the calculation 
model, and assessed whether the calculation 
was in accordance with the relevant services 
agreement. 
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Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
that the performance criteria is met and the 
obligation has crystallised. 

During the year, management and performance 
fees totalled $28,027,000 and $46,422,000, 
which equates to 20% and 34% of total 
expenses, respectively. 

The quantum of these expenses, the impact that 
market volatility can have on the recognition of 
performance fees and the complexity involved in 
the assessment of performance fee 
arrangements resulted in management and 
performance fees being considered a key audit 
matter. 

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in 
Note 21 of the financial report. 

 

 

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon  
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Company’s 2022 annual report, but does not include the financial report 
and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remuneration Report 
and our related assurance opinion. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
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if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

► Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

► Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

► Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

► Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

► Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions 
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated to the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Continued

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

 

Page 5 

Report on the audit of the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 5 to 7 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 30 June 2022. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of L1 Long Short Fund Limited for the year ended 30 June 
2022, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 
 
 

Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
 

Rohit Khanna 
Partner 
Sydney 
26 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

54

L1 Long Short Fund Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Shareholder Information

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 30 September 2022.
Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Limited Listing Rules and not disclosed 
elsewhere in this report, are listed below.

A. Distribution of shareholders
Analysis of the number of shareholders by size of holding:

Holdings

Number  
of ordinary 

shares held
Number of 

shareholders

Percentage 
of shares on 

issue

1 – 1,000  362,304  738  0.06 
1,001 – 5,000  10,031,659  3,072  1.63 
5,001 – 10,000  24,784,388  3,148  4.04 
10,001 – 100,000  228,256,969  7,826  37.19 
100,001 – 100,000,000  350,390,273  589  57.08 

 613,825,593  15,373  100.00 

There were 163 holders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares.

B. Twenty largest shareholders
The names of the twenty largest shareholders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

Rank Holder name

Number  
of ordinary 

shares held

Percentage 
of shares  

on issue

1 Sylverly Pty Ltd  37,331,843  6.08 
2 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited  32,893,137  5.36 
3 Cantone No. 2 Pty Ltd  33,057,337  5.39 
4 Netwealth Investments Limited <Wrap Services A/C>  14,498,649  2.36 
5 BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd <Hub24 Custodial Serv Ltd>  13,423,812  2.19 
6 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited  11,557,740  1.88 
7 National Nominees Limited  9,486,786  1.55 
8 Navigator Australia Ltd  8,549,350  1.39 
9 Custodial Services Limited  7,816,532  1.27 
10 Shomron Pty Ltd  7,331,012  1.19 
11 Annaeus Pty Ltd  6,818,884  1.11 
12 Netwealth Investments Limited <Super Services A/C>  6,590,994  1.07 
13 L1 Capital Nominees Pty Ltd  4,796,669  0.78 
14 Kuridale Nominees Pty Ltd  4,334,788  0.71 
15 J P Morgan Nominees Australia Pty Limited  3,676,020  0.60 
16 NCSR Pty Ltd  3,596,512  0.59 
17 BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd <IB AU Noms Retail Client>  3,578,767  0.58 
18 The Ian Potter Foundation Limited  3,300,000  0.54 
19 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited - A/C 2  3,150,027  0.51 
20 Australian Executor Trustees Limited  2,864,358  0.47 

 218,653,217  35.62 
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Shareholder Information
Continued

C. Substantial shareholders
The Company had received the following substantial shareholder notifications.

Holder Name

Shares held 
at date of 

notice

Percentage 
of shares 

held at date 
of notice

Date of 
notice

Mark Landau, Sylverly Pty Ltd and associates  46,467,697 7.60% 5/7/22

Raphael Lamm, Cantone No. 2 Pty Ltd and associates  42,415,925 6.94% 5/9/22

D. Voting rights
The voting rights attaching to each class of equity securities are set out below:
On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one 
vote, and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote.

E. Stock exchange listing
Quotation has been granted for all of the ordinary shares and options of the Company on all Member Exchanges 
of the ASX Limited.

F. Unquoted securities
There are no unquoted shares.

G. Securities subject to voluntary escrow
The ordinary shares below are subject to voluntary escrow for a period which is the earlier of 24 April 2028 or the 
duration of the Investment Management Agreement.

Number  
of ordinary 

shares held

Cantone No. 2 Pty Ltd  15,285,179 

Sylverly Pty Ltd  15,285,179 

NCSR Pty Ltd  3,596,512 

Shomron Pty Ltd  2,500,000 

Annaeus Pty Ltd  2,150,000 

Inkmore 2 Pty Ltd  1,798,256 

Yerkes Pty Ltd  588,236 

Billy Ray Pty Ltd  350,000 

Jellk Pty Ltd  294,118 
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